**RECEIVED**

**Apr 24 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from York County  
Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2023-000943

---

THE STATE,

Appellant,

vs.

JUSTIN TYLER ANDERSON,

Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

KEVIN S. BRACKETT  
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

1675-1A York Highway  
Moss Justice Center  
York, SC 29745  
(803) 628-3020

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the circuit court judge reversibly err by granting immunity to Anderson pursuant to the South Carolina Protection of Persons and Property Act when: (1) the circuit court judge granted immunity without making an actual determination on whether the “without fault for the difficulty” element of self-defense had been established as required; (2) Anderson could not have been without fault for the difficulty due to the opprobrious language he used to provoke the physical altercation that occurred with his victim; (3) Anderson did not reasonably need to use deadly force against his unarmed victim at the time he did so; and (4) the circuit court judge erroneously concluded Anderson was only legally required to establish two of self-defense’s four elements to be entitled to immunity?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In March of 2022, Respondent Justin Tyler Anderson was arrested following an investigation into a stabbing that occurred in a parking lot. In August of 2022, the York County Grand Jury indicted Anderson for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. Prior to trial, Anderson sought immunity from prosecution pursuant to the South Carolina Protection of Persons and Property Act. On January 11, 2023, a pre-trial hearing was conducted on the matter in the York County Court of General Sessions with the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., circuit court judge, presiding. At the conclusion of the hearing, the circuit court judge took the matter under advisement. Thereafter, on February 15, 2023, the circuit court judge issued an order granting Anderson's request for immunity. Following that, the State timely moved for reconsideration of the decision. On May 18, 2023, the circuit court judge issued an order summarily denying the State's motion. The State then timely filed a notice of appeal.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The incident at the heart of this appeal occurred on St. Patrick's Day in 2022. (R. pp. 19-20; pp. 31-32; p. 72; pp. 81-82). That evening, Deputy Arens Marthone from the York County Sheriff's Office responded to a report of a stabbing that had just occurred in the parking lot of Bella Cay Salon and Spa, a business situated next to 2020 Tavern in Tega Cay, South Carolina. (R. pp. 8-9). Upon arriving at the scene, the deputy was alerted Anderson, the son of the salon's owner, stabbed the victim, Robert Wiestling ("Victim"), in the neck during a dispute.<sup>1</sup> (R. p. 63; pp. 69-70; p. 91; pp. 114-115). Both had been drinking that day, and the dispute between the two broke out—and rapidly escalated—over Victim's attempt to park in one of the salon's customer parking spots on his way to the tavern despite the presence of signage indicating the spots were for salon customers only. (R. pp. 10-11; pp. 66-70; p. 73; p. 99; p. 101). Ultimately, based on what had transpired, Anderson was arrested and charged with several offenses, including assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, in connection to the stabbing. (R. p. 4; pp. 156-161).

Before his case could be brought to trial, Anderson sought immunity from prosecution, and the circuit court judge conducted a hearing on the matter in response. (R. p. 4). During that hearing, both Anderson and Victim offered accounts of the events leading up to the stabbing, and, notably, both those accounts were highly-similar in many key respects. (R. pp. 61-109).

Regarding Anderson's account, he described what occurred as follows. (R. pp. 61-80). On the date of the incident, Anderson was in the salon's parking lot with his girlfriend and her daughter getting ready to leave when a vehicle parked at the salon. (R. pp. 63-64). His mother

---

<sup>1</sup> Anderson claimed to the deputy he accidentally struck Victim with a Milwaukee-brand utility knife during the course of the dispute. (R. p. 115). Anderson's knife was recovered at the scene resting in the windshield cowl panel of his van, which was parked in the salon's parking lot. (R. p. 30; p. 61; p. 70; pp. 112-113; State's Ex. # 11 (Photograph)).

had asked him to make sure no one other than customers parked at the salon, so Anderson told the vehicle's occupants to move it or he would call a tow truck. (R. pp. 63-65). Initially, the vehicle's occupants ignored him, he nonetheless allowed them to walk away without comment, and they returned a short time later and moved the vehicle. (R. pp. 64-65). A few minutes after that, Victim arrived and also began parking in one of the salon's spots, and Anderson quickly advised Victim he could not park there.<sup>2</sup> (R. pp. 65-66). In response, Victim questioned why he could not do so if the salon was closed, Anderson—now angry—told Victim that did not matter, and Victim indicated he did not like Anderson's attitude. (R. pp. 66-67; pp. 76-77). At that point, the situation between the two began to get "heated," and they started exchanging threats with one another. (R. p. 67; pp. 71-72). As their back-and-forth continued, Victim got out of his car, approached Anderson, began "running his mouth," and put his fingers in Anderson's face. (R. p. 67). Anderson responded by "definitely" cursing at Victim and telling him he needed to "get the fuck out." (R. pp. 67-68; p. 77). Victim then began "getting in [Anderson's] face again," and "words were said." (R. p. 68). Following that, Victim returned to his vehicle, fumbled around, came back, got back in Anderson's face again, and then return to his vehicle once more. (R. p. 68). "Then some other things were said[.]" (R. p. 68). As to those things, Anderson—by his own acknowledgement—made statements to Victim like "Fuck you," "*Come at me*," and "What are you gonna do?" (R. p. 78) (emphasis added). In response to those provocative statements, Victim did, in fact, come back toward Anderson and spit in Anderson's face, and Anderson—by his own admission—responded: "'*Let's go*,' or something like that." (R. p. 68; p. 78) (emphasis added). Victim then physically pushed Anderson into a car. (R. p.

---

<sup>2</sup> Regarding how Anderson conveyed to Victim he could not park in the spot, a neutral observer asserted Anderson was "being a dick" and spoke to Victim in "not the nicest way." (Court's Ex. # 2 (Interview Recording)).

69). After that, Anderson armed himself with a utility knife he had in his pocket and moved his hands up when he saw Victim's fist moving toward him.<sup>3</sup> (R. p. 69; pp. 78-79). When he did, he "accidentally" made contact with Victim's neck. (R. p. 69; p. 79). Immediately in response to that, Victim back away, grabbed his neck, accused Anderson of stabbing him, returned to his vehicle, and then began heading toward 2020 Tavern. (R. p. 70; p. 79). At that point, Anderson "chased [Victim] down" and "tackled him to the ground." (R. p. 70; p. 80). But, before doing so, Anderson discarded his knife onto the hood of his van even though he thought Victim was "grabbing a gun or something" when Victim last returned to his vehicle after being stabbed. (R. p. 70). Following that, Anderson, who was uninjured, waited in the parking lot and was eventually arrested. (R. p. 71; pp. 79-80).

Meanwhile, regarding Victim's account, he remembered the incident in the following manner. (R. pp. 81-109). Victim went to 2020 Tavern around 7:00 p.m. with his wife and his wife's friend to celebrate St. Patrick's Day. (R. pp. 81-82). Upon arriving there, he saw an empty parking spot that he had previously parked in in the past and backed into it. (R. p. 83). Once he was parked, they all got out of the car, and Anderson immediately began cussing at him and saying he could not park in the spot. (R. pp. 83-84; pp. 104-105). In response, Victim told Anderson it did not matter because the salon was closed. (R. p. 84). Nevertheless, due to Anderson's belligerent behavior, Victim returned to his car and began to move it out of the spot. (R. pp. 84-85; p. 105). As he did, though, Anderson said: "That's right[,] you son of a bitch, you better leave."<sup>4</sup> (R. p. 85). In response to that, Victim stopped his vehicle, opened the door, and

---

<sup>3</sup> Although he personally was armed with a deadly weapon, Anderson candidly conceded during the hearing he was unaware if Victim had anything in his hand. (R. p. 79).

<sup>4</sup> Later on, Victim confirmed he would have continued leaving if Anderson had not called his mother, who was deceased, a bitch. (R. p. 108).

asked Anderson what his “fucking problem” was, and the two began exchanging profanities with one another. (R. p. 85). During that exchange, Victim exited his vehicle, the two continued cussing at each other, and he spit on the ground at one point. (R. pp. 85-86). Anderson then beckoned him to come over if he had a problem, Victim did so, and Victim stated: “What now?” or “Now what?” (R. p. 87). At that point, Anderson suddenly struck Victim in the mouth, he grabbed Anderson, and Anderson hit him in the neck. (R. pp. 87-88; pp. 105-106). The blow to his neck felt like a “shock,” and Victim quickly released Anderson and returned to his car. (R. pp. 88-87; pp. 105-10). When he did, Victim realized blood was spurting from his neck, and he accused Anderson of stabbing him over a parking spot. (R. p. 88). Victim then began walking toward the tavern for help, and, as he did, Anderson unsuccessfully attempted to physically stop him from doing so several times. (R. pp. 90-91).

In addition to Anderson’s and Victim’s accounts, Kirsten Pickett, who was both Anderson’s girlfriend and an employee of the salon, testified about what she witnessed on the date of the incident and recounted the events that occurred as follows. (R. pp. 20-21; p. 31). Around sunset that evening, a car parked in a salon parking lot shortly before Victim’s arrival, which angered Anderson. (R. p. 23; p. 32; pp. 38-39; p. 57). However, Pickett was able to get the person to move their vehicle by threatening to have it towed. (R. p. 23; p. 32; pp. 38-39; p. 57). Only minutes later, Victim arrived in his car and began backing into one of the salon’s customer parking spots. (R. p. 23; p. 39). When he did, Anderson approached and let Victim know he should not park in the spot, Victim rolled down his vehicle’s window and asked what the problem was, Anderson repeated he could not park there, and Victim claimed he could because the salon was closed. (R. p. 25). Following that, both raised their voices with one another, Victim asked Anderson what his problem was, and Anderson tauntingly replied: “*Come*

*figure it out.*” (R. pp. 25-26; p. 41) (emphasis added). In response to that, Victim exited his vehicle, walked toward Anderson, and began poking his finger at Anderson’s chest and nose. (R. pp. 26-27; p. 42). Anderson then became angry and “bowed up a little bit.” (R. pp. 26-27; p. 42). At that point, a verbal exchange ensued during which both Anderson and Victim directed vulgar and insulting statements at each other. (R. p. 46). Amongst the things said, Victim told Anderson he was “[g]oing to fuck him in the ass,” and Anderson told Victim to “[s]uck [his] dick.”<sup>5</sup> (R. pp. 45-46). Additionally, throughout that verbal exchange, Victim walked back to his vehicle several times, and, each time he did, Anderson continued “running his mouth,” which led Victim to come back over toward Anderson and—at one point—spit in his face.<sup>6</sup> (R. p. 47; pp. 51-52). More specifically, Anderson taunted Victim with statements such as “What are you going to do?” and “*Come at me.*” (R. pp. 52-53) (emphasis added). After Anderson continued to direct more statements at Victim, Victim finally returned to Anderson and lunged at or pushed him into Pickett’s nearby vehicle. (R. p. 28; p. 47; p. 53). Following that, the two locked arms, struggled for a few seconds, and then pushed away from one another. (R. p. 29; pp. 53-55). Victim, who was now bleeding, then began heading toward the tavern, “said something” as he did, and was promptly tackled to the ground by Anderson, who only released Victim when Pickett began kicking him in the side. (R. pp. 29-30; pp. 55-56).

At the conclusion of the hearing, the circuit court judge took the matter under advisement. (R. pp. 128-129). Thereafter, upon considering the matter, the circuit court judge granted immunity from prosecution to Anderson. (R. p. 140). In doing so, the circuit court

---

<sup>5</sup> In the aftermath of the stabbing, Pickett admittedly did *not* tell the investigating officers about Victim’s supposed comment about “fuck[ing] [Anderson] in the ass.” (R. pp. 50-51).

<sup>6</sup> Regarding Victim’s returns to his vehicle, Pickett indicated it looked to her like Victim might have been trying to get his phone. (R. p. 44).

judge correctly noted Anderson had the burden of demonstrating entitlement to immunity by a preponderance of the evidence. (R. p. 132). Likewise, the circuit court judge correctly recognized the defense of self-defense has four necessary elements when deadly force has been employed. (R. pp. 137-138). The circuit court judge then began analyzing the elements of self-defense in light of the various factual findings he made. (R. pp. 138-140).

Beginning his substantive analysis with the “without fault in bringing on the difficulty” element, the circuit court judge recognized a business proprietor has the right to eject trespassers from the premises and will be considered to be without fault in bringing on the difficulty so long as the proprietor engaged in a legitimate good faith exercise of the right to eject. (R. p. 138). The circuit court judge further recognized the question of whether the right to eject was exercised in good faith can turn on the language used during the interaction. (R. p. 138). The circuit court judge then—in total—ruled as follows:

In the facts of this case, [Anderson] verbally advised the Victim not to park in the designated salon space but then heard the Victim questioning whether the salon was open for patrons. The uncontroverted testimony is that the verbal exchange between the parties escalated rapidly. [Anderson] testified that multiple face-to-face confrontations occurred between the Victim and him. Both men yelled at each other, and the Victim returned to his vehicle between the short confrontations. *The Court finds that [Anderson] had no duty to retreat.*

(R. p. 139) (emphasis added).

After incorrectly conflating the duty to retreat with the “without fault for the difficulty” element, the circuit court judge then moved on to the “belief in or actual imminent danger” element and concluded Anderson either actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury or truly was in such danger. (R. p. 139). As support for that conclusion, the circuit court judge noted the testimony established Victim retreated to his

car several times during the incident, Anderson testified he was “unsure” why Victim did so, and Anderson indicated he was concerned Victim “could have” obtained a weapon. (R. p. 139).

Next, the circuit court judge analyzed the reasonableness of Anderson’s supposed belief he was at risk of death or serious bodily injury and concluded that element of self-defense had likewise been satisfied. (R. pp. 139-140). However, in reaching such a conclusion, the circuit court judge simply noted: (1) “the physical confrontation was initiated by the Victim;” and (2) “[t]he consistent testimony of all of the witnesses was that the Victim retreated no less than twice to his car.” (R. pp. 139-140).

Finally, after making those rulings, the circuit court concluded Anderson was only required to establish *two* of self-defense’s four elements under “the current law.” (R. p. 140).

Specifically, in so concluding, the circuit court judge stated:

And so under the current law, [Anderson], being in a place he had a right to be, and being authorized to eject trespassers, only must satisfy two elements: that he actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger; and that a reasonable prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the belief of imminent danger.

(R. p. 140). The circuit court judge then granted Anderson’s motion for immunity from prosecution without further explanation. (R. p. 140).

Following the grant of immunity, the solicitor timely sought reconsideration of the circuit court judge’s ruling. (R. pp. 141-153). As support for the request, the solicitor pointed out several critical problems with the circuit court judge’s order. (R. p. 146). First, the solicitor noted the circuit court judge had failed to fully analyze or reach a conclusion about whether Anderson was without fault for the difficulty and, instead, had improperly conflated the duty to retreat with the no fault requirement. (R. pp. 146-147; p. 153). Second, regarding the “without

fault for the difficulty” element, the solicitor argued Anderson’s own testimony, which included candid acknowledgements he verbally encouraged Victim to come and fight him, was by itself sufficient to establish he was not without fault for the difficult, which meant his request for immunity had to be denied. (R. pp. 146-147; pp. 149-150). Third, the solicitor asserted the circuit court judge incorrectly concluded a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have feared death or serious bodily injury under the circumstances involved since: (1) Anderson disproportionately used deadly force against an unarmed man in response to a shove and a punch; and (2) Anderson never testified to seeing a weapon or even seeing anything that looked like a weapon in Victim’s hands. (R. pp. 150-153). Fourth and finally, the solicitor noted the circuit court judge incorrectly concluded Anderson was only required to establish two elements of self-defense and, thus, committed a plain error of law by explicitly doing so. (R. pp. 152-153).

Ultimately though, the circuit court judge denied the solicitor’s reconsideration request. (R. p. 155). Notably, in doing so, the circuit court judge did not specifically address any of the issues raised by the solicitor and provided no substantive explanation for the denial. (R. p. 155).

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an appeal from a circuit court judge's pre-trial determination regarding a claim of statutory immunity, an appellate court reviews the circuit court judge's ruling for an abuse of discretion. State v. Douglas, 411 S.C. 307, 316, 768 S.E.2d 232, 237 (Ct. App. 2015); see State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013) (“[T]his court reviews [a claim of immunity under the Act] under an abuse of discretion standard of review.”). Pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard, the appellate court must affirm the circuit court judge's immunity determination if it is supported by any evidence and not controlled by an error of law. Curry, 406 S.C. at 372, 752 S.E.2d at 267; see Douglas, 411 S.C. at 316, 768 S.E.2d at 237 (“[T]he abuse of discretion standard of review does not allow this court to reweigh the evidence or second-guess the trial court's assessment of witness credibility.”). However, the appellate court is not barred from conducting its own review of the record to determine whether the circuit court judge's decision is supported by the evidence and will reverse when the decision is controlled by a legal error or lacking in evidentiary support. See State v. Elders, 386 S.C. 474, 480, 688 S.E.2d 857, 860 (Ct. App. 2010) (“An abuse of discretion occurs where the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.”); see also Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 684, 511 S.E.2d 396, 400 (Ct. App. 1999) (“In appeals of pretrial rulings, this Court is ‘bound by fact findings in response to motions preliminary to trial when the findings are supported by the evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by error of law.’ ” (citation omitted)); cf. Narcisco v. State, 397 S.C. 24, 28, 723 S.E.2d 369, 371 (2012) (“[T]his Court is not barred from conducting its own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge's decision is supported by the evidence.”).

## ARGUMENT

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