**RECEIVED**

**Oct 27 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM CHESTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

---

2025-UP-074 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 24, 2025)

Appellate Case No. 2023-000943  
Trial Court Case No. 2020-CP-12-00207

---

Alexis Jones, ..... Respondent,

v.

Progressive Northern Insurance Company ..... Petitioner.

---

**RESPONDENT'S BRIEF**

---

John S. Nichols, Esquire  
SC Bar # 4210  
Bluestein Thompson Sullivan, LLC  
P.O. Box 7965  
Columbia, SC 29202  
(803) 779-7599  
[John@bluesteinattorneys.com](mailto:John@bluesteinattorneys.com)

J. Logan Cannon, Esquire

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

First, as noted, Progressive relies heavily upon a discussion in Justice Burnett's *dissent* in *Haselden* in which Justice Pleicones concurred. A dissent, however, is not binding authority. As this Court stated over a century ago:

\* \* \* Even if a dissenting opinion sustains the appellants, it is not binding authority. A dissenting opinion is useful and throws light on the case, but is not controlling. The majority opinion is what is the law, and the dissenting opinion shows what is not the law. A justice dissents only when, in his judgment, the prevailing opinion is contrary to what the law has been.

*State v. Batson*, 107 S.C. 460, 93 S.E. 135 (1917). *See, also*, Christina M. Frohock,

*Schrödinger's Dissent: The Hybrid Authority of a Dissenting Opinion*, 107 Marquette Law

Review 963, 985 (Summer 2024) (noting “many courts resist following dissents even from a splintered bench” since “the dissent lost the vote”); *Id.* at 990 (“A dissent is the one judicial opinion that, *by definition*, is inconsistent with the law.”) (emphasis in original).

A dissenting opinion may one day win adherents in a later majority. *Id.* at 990. However, both of the dissenters in *Haselden* joined the majority the very next year in *Covington v. George* to answer a question left open in *Haselden*. Justice Pleicones, one of the *Haselden* dissenters, actually authored the opinion in *Covington*. The Court in *Covington* described *Haselden* as follows:

Whether the actual payment amount may be utilized to establish the reasonableness of medical expenses was ancillary to the main issue in *Haselden* because both the billed amount and the actual payment amount were admitted into evidence. In *Haselden*, the Plaintiff submitted evidence that she *incurred* medical expenses in the amount of \$77,905.21. [*Haselden v. Davis*,] 341 S.C. 486, 501, 534 S.E.2d 295, 303 (Ct. App. 2000)[, *affirmed* 353 S.C. 481, 579 S.E.2d 293 (2003)]. Medicaid paid \$24,109.04 to cover the services. 534 S.E.2d at 303. The difference between the amounts billed and the amounts actually paid by Medicaid was \$51,620.59. *Id.* Defendants entered a letter as a court exhibit, which showed the gross amount of the bills for Plaintiff’s services and the corresponding Medicaid payments. The admissibility of the actual payment amount was not an appellate issue in *Haselden*, but rather the issue was Plaintiff’s entitlement to recover the difference between the billed amount and the actual payment amount.

*Covington v. George*, at 100, 597 S.E.2d at 143-144 (emphasis added). Not only did the *Haselden* dissenters abandon their prior position, they agreed in *Covington* that the plaintiff in *Haselden* “*incurred*” the gross expense, not the lower amount the providers accepted from the collateral source, Medicaid. *See, also, Gipson v. Coffee & McKenzie, P.A.*, 445 S.C. 395, 400, 914 S.E.2d 842, 844-845 (2025) (“Although it may appear in many contexts, the collateral source rule most often arises when the injured party has received money for the injury from one of the following sources of benefits: ... (4) social legislation benefits, *Haselden v. Davis*, 353 S.C. 481,

485, 579 S.E.2d 293, 295 (2003) (Medicaid payments).”).

Progressive’s contentions about Medicaid payments to providers rely on this Court viewing those payments as *not* from a “collateral source,” nor as representing an offset. That is, the Court must accept that when a provider agrees to accept Medicaid in lieu of other forms of payment, “expenses incurred” equates to “amount actually paid.” Progressive supports its argument only with the dissenting opinion in *Haselden* and authorities from other jurisdictions that are contrary to *Haselden* and *Covington*. (Petitioner’s Brief, p. 9, n. 7). Progressive’s position is entirely inconsistent with the majority decision in *Haselden*, the unanimous decision in *Covington* (including both *Haselden* dissenters), and the very recent decision in *Gipson*.

The Court should not find Progressive’s argument persuasive and should affirm the Court of Appeals’ decision, or dismiss this writ as improvidently granted.

## **II. THE COURT OF APPEALS’ DECISION IS CONSISTENT WITH THIS COURT’S PRECEDENT**

Progressive contends the Court of Appeals’ decision is not consistent with *Gordon v. Fidelity & Cas. Co. of N.Y.*, 238 S.C. 438, 120 S.E.2d 509 (1961) or the unpublished United States District Court case of *Barker v. Washington Nat. Ins. Co.*, 2013 WL 1767620 (D.S.C. Apr. 24, 2013). (Brief of Petitioner, pp. 10-16). Both *Gordon* and *Barker*, however, are distinct from this case in very meaningful ways. Furthermore, the Court of Appeals’ decision is consistent with this Court’s more recent precedent in *Haselden v. Davis*, 353 S.C. 481, 579 S.E.2d 293 (2003), *Covington v. George*, 359 S.C. 100, 597 S.E.2d 142 (2004), and *Gipson v. Coffey & McKenzie, PA*, 445 S.C. 395, 914 S.E.2d 842 (2025). The Court should reject Progressive’s arguments.

**A. *Gordon v. Fidelity & Cas. Co. of N.Y.***

Progressive rests the majority of its position on *Gordon*. However, *Gordon* is distinct from this case in very meaningful ways.

First, in *Gordon*, the insured and the insurance carrier *stipulated* that the plaintiff incurred no expense for his medical care. *Gordon*, at 446, 120 S.E.2d at 513 (“Since the parties to this action *stipulated that the respondent incurred no expense* and made no cash outlay for the treatment he received at the Fort Jackson hospital, the appellant was not liable to the respondent for the reasonable cost of his hospitalization, because the appellant had limited its liability to pay only ‘all reasonable expenses incurred’ by the respondent.”) (emphasis added). That is, they stipulated that there was no bill for a collateral source to satisfy and that the soldier “incurred no expense.” The definition of the phrase “expenses incurred” was not at issue.

Second, the Court in *Gordon* relied upon *United States v. St. Paul Mercury Indemn. Co.*, 238 F.2d 594 (8th Cir. 1956) as persuasive authority. In *St. Paul*, a Federal Appeals Court held that when a servicemember or veteran is provided medical care through the Veterans’ Administration, the veteran incurs no medical expenses. The *St. Paul* Court therefore ruled the government “could not recover from [the] insurer, since, under statute, [the] veteran had incurred no liability” arising from the treatment. *United States v. St. Paul Mercury Indemnity Co.*, at 595. This is a very narrow holding aimed at a discrete segment of the population: Those individuals who are eligible for medical care<sup>2</sup> provided through the Veteran’s Administration. That is, there

---

<sup>2</sup> Progressive asserts the veteran in *Gordon* “did not receive free medical care at a military hospital. His medical care was paid for by the taxpayers. He just received free-to-him medical care.” (Brief of Petitioner, p. 11). That may be, but the source of those payments is still collateral to Progressive’s obligation to pay under the Medpay policy. The major difference was the *Gordon* parties’ stipulation that Mr. Gordon, an active-duty soldier stationed at Ft. Jackson,

never will be a bill for the services for which a collateral source (including Medicaid) will have exposure.

Unlike *Gordon*, there is no statute that renders the medical treatment uncharged to Ms. Jones from the start. (Appx. p. 12). As the trial court explained “[Ms. Jones] incurred the full cost of her medical treatment at the time services [were] rendered as she became obligated for that amount irrespective of Medicaid.” (Appx. p. 12). The trial court added, “Unlike *Gordon*, [Ms. Jones] in this case was in fact charged for the services rendered at the time they were rendered thereby incurring those expenses notwithstanding Medicaid.” (Appx. p. 12).

Third, *Gordon* predates South Carolina’s adoption of the Automobile Reparation Reform Act in 1974 (recodified in 1977). *See Shores v. Weaver*, 315 S.C. 347, 433 S.E.2d 913 (1993), *cert. denied* March 18, 1994 (describing the adoption of current automobile insurance laws in South Carolina).<sup>3</sup> At the time of *Gordon*, there was *no* provision in the South Carolina Code that prohibited any setoff from PIP or MedPay benefits as there is now. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-144 (2015) (“If an insurer sells no-fault insurance coverage which provides personal injury protection, medical payment coverage, or economic loss coverage, *the coverage* shall not be assigned or subrogated and *is not subject to a setoff.*”) (emphasis added).

---

“incurred no expense for his medical care.”

<sup>3</sup> Westlaw red flags *Shores* as “superseded by statute,” pointing to *McGee v. SC Dept. of Motor Vehicles*, 389 S.C. 540, 698 S.E.2d 841 (Ct. App. 2010). This is incorrect. *McGee* relied upon the Court of Appeals’ opinion in *Cowan v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 351 S.C. 626, 571 S.E.2d 715 (Ct. App. 2002) (*Cowan I*) (holding *Shores* was superseded by the adoption of S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-142(B) (eff. 3/1/1999)). This Court, however, reversed *Cowan*, and held *Shores* is still good law. *Cowan v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 357 S.C. 625, 594 S.E.2d 275 (2004) (*Cowan II*) (holding the adoption of S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-142(B) did not impact the holding in *Shores*). Therefore, while *McGee* correctly described the effect of *Cowan I*, the *McGee* opinion lost any efficacy because *Cowan I* is no longer good law. Hence, Westlaw’s red flag is in error.

Fourth, *Gordon* predates more recent precedent from this Court in *Haselden* and *Covington*. Both of those cases hold that the appropriate measure of the cost of medical care is the amount a provider would have billed absent a *collateral source*, such as Medicaid. *Cf. Gipson v. Coffee & McKenzie, P.A.* (pointing to *Haselden* as describing Medicaid as a collateral source). Thus, the amount the provider would have billed was the cost Ms. Jones incurred. The fact that the providers accepted Medicaid affects only the ultimate payment on her behalf, not the initial expense she *incurred* for treatment.

This Court should not be persuaded by Progressive’s argument that *Gordon* controls the outcome in this case.

**B. *Barker v. Washington Nat. Ins. Co.***

Progressive asserts the United States District Court “properly applied the *Gordon* decision to similar facts” in *Barker v. Washington Nat. Ins. Co.*, 2013 WL 1767620 (D.S.C. Apr. 24, 2013). (Brief of Petitioner, pp. 13-14). Since *Barker* relied upon the same reading of *Gordon* that Progressive promotes, *Barker* is wrongly decided. Even so, *Barker* is distinct from this case in very meaningful ways. This Court should not be persuaded by Progressive’s argument.

First, the federal district court in *Barker* attempted to predict South Carolina law. Citing to *Gordon*, the district court concluded “as a Medicare recipient, Barker at no time was obligated to pay the total charges listed on the hospital’s bill....” The district court did not analyze the case under the collateral source rule as described in *Covington* or *Haselden* (and reaffirmed in *Gipson*). The district court also conflated the concepts of “incurred” versus “paid.” Respectfully, Judge Duffy’s unpublished order is wrong, and this Court should reject *Barker*’s analysis.

Second, *Barker* involved a *health insurance policy* that contained a “Medicare

Provision,” not an automobile policy. This is a meaningful distinction. Insurers have more flexibility when including terms like the “Medicare Provision” found in the *Barker* policy as opposed to the terms an insurer may include in automobile insurance coverage. In an automobile policy, a term must comply with the governing statutory provisions or the term is void. *See, e.g., Cothran v. State Farm. Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 427 S.C. 545, 831 S.E.2d 919 (2019) (holding invalid a “coordination clause” which permitted insurer to reduce PIP payments for workers’ compensation recovery). The “Medicare Provision” in *Barker* would be unenforceable if included in an automobile PIP/Medpay policy given the PIP/Medpay statute’s provision that “the coverage shall not be assigned or subrogated and is not subject to a setoff.” S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-144.

Finally, the district court’s unpublished order is not binding on this Court. *See, e.g., Laffite v. Bridgestone Corp.*, 381 S.C. 460, 473 n. 9, 674 S.E.2d 154, 161 n. 9 (2009) (“a federal court decision interpreting state law is not binding on this Court.”), citing *Blyth v. Marcus*, 335 S.C. 363, 368 n. 3, 517 S.E.2d 433, 435 n. 3 (1999) (noting a federal district court decision was not binding on this Court). And because of the significant distinctions between this case and *Barker* set forth above (health insurance versus automobile insurance, no collateral source analysis), the district court’s unpublished decision is not even valid persuasive authority favoring Progressive’s position.

Progressive asks the Court to focus on the amount ultimately *paid* to the medical providers, not the amount *incurred* at the time the patient received the medical services. Ms. Jones *incurred* the full amount the medical providers ordinarily charged; what was *paid* was the reduced amount the providers agreed to accept under the collateral source, Medicaid.

Progressive’s argument, taken to its extreme, would be that it should receive credit for *any* payment by *any* health insurer who negotiates a reduction with the provider, and is only liable for that amount plus any co-pay an insured must pay. That is not the law, nor is it the language of Progressive’s insurance agreement.<sup>4</sup>

The Court of Appeals’ decision affirming the circuit court’s order finding Progressive owed Ms. Jones the balance due under the applicable MedPay policy is entirely consistent with controlling authority from this Court. It is also consistent with the cases upon which Progressive relies because those cases are meaningfully distinct, they are not consistent with more recent case law, or they are not binding upon this Court. Accordingly, the Court should reject Progressive’s arguments, affirm the lower courts, or dismiss this writ.

### **III. THIS CASE DOES NOT PRESENT A NOVEL ISSUE ON THE AMOUNT DUE TO MS. JONES UNDER THE MEDPAY POLICY**

The issue Progressive pursues before this Court is not novel. The Court in *Haselden and Covington* described the amount the medical provider normally charged as the amount an injured party “incurred,” and not the net amount a provider accepted from a collateral source such as Medicaid. The law is settled on this point under very recent cases from this Court (*Gipson* is a 2025 opinion). And Section 38-77-144 plainly states benefits payable under a MedPay policy are

---

<sup>4</sup> Taken to its logical conclusion, the argument Progressive makes in this case (that “expenses incurred” equals “expenses the injured party had to pay out of pocket”) would relieve an automobile insurer from making any PIP or Medpay payments where a party’s medical bills were covered by workers’ compensation, contrary to the holding in *Cothran*. See 427 S.C. at 546, 831 S.E.2d at 920 (this Court observed that Ms. Cothran’s “workers’ compensation carrier paid all of her medical expenses”). Such a result would also directly conflict with the anti-assignment, anti-subrogation, or anti-setoff provisions in Section 38-77-144.

not subject to setoff, including from a collateral source like Medicaid. The issue *seems* novel because Progressive continues to advocate for a “misapplication” and “misinterpretation” of the holdings of *Gordon* and *Barker*.<sup>5</sup>

Again, the law on this point is settled; the issue is not novel. Section 38-77-144 mandates that Progressive pay what it agreed to pay under its policy without setoff for payments attributed to a collateral source such as Medicaid. *Haselden* and *Covington* set forth the rules governing which figures to use, that is, the normal charges and not the reduced charges under a provider’s agreement to accept Medicaid.

Respectfully, although this Court granted Progressive’s petition to review the unpublished Court of Appeals’ decision which affirmed the circuit court’s order, the Court should reconsider that grant and dismiss the writ as improvidently granted.

---

<sup>5</sup> This is how the Court of Appeals described Progressive’s arguments. *Jones*, slip at \*4.

## CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated the Court should affirm the Court of Appeals' opinion upholding the trial court's order finding that Progressive owed Ms. Jones the entire amount due under the MedPay policy. Alternatively, the Court should dismiss the writ in this case.